
FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
 

To:  The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore 
From:  AB Associates, on behalf of 3200 Lily Street LLC 
Date:  Feb. 6, 2025 
Re:  CCB25-023, to rezone 3200 Lily Avenue from R-4 to I-1 

 
 
On February 10, 2024, at the request of 3200 Lily Street LLC and the entity’s operator John Lowry, 
District 10 Councilmember Phylicia Porter introduced legislation to rezone 3200 Lily Avenue from 
R-4 to I-1. 3200 Lily Avenue is a triangular parcel on the south side of Patapsco Avenue, halfway 
between Route 295 and the Light Rail tracks in the Cherry Hill neighborhood. The property is 
improved by a 34-bay mini-warehouse that Lowry leases to city residents and small businesses for 
overflow storage.  
 
3200 Lily Street LLC has no development plan for the property. A rezoning is being pursued solely 
to align the property’s longstanding use with a zoning district that allows for the use to continue. 
At present, the property’s use as a mini-warehouse is non-conforming in the R-4 zoning district. 
The use is permitted in I-1 zones. 
 
1. Map Amendments & Required Findings of Fact 
 
As required by the State Land Use Article, the City Council may approve the legislative 
authorization for a rezoning based on a finding that there was either (i) a substantial change in the 
character of the neighborhood where the property is located; or (ii) a mistake in the zoning 
classification.  
 
Lowry proffers that a mistake was made with regard to this property during the comprehensive 
rezoning process known as Transform Baltimore. Prior to Transform, 3200 Lily Avenue was zoned 
M-1-1. Storage facilities such as this one were permitted in M-1-1 zones. The property was part of 
an extensive M-1-1 zoning district that stretched westbound from 3200 Lily Avenue and also across 
Patapsco Avenue, up to the B&O Railroad tracks.  
 
Transform kept much of that industrial zoning in place, but the new map rezoned 3200 Lily Avenue 
to R-4, likely in an effort to align the residential zoning with the other properties on Lily Avenue, 
each improved by single-family homes. (Those homes are zoned R-3.) A quick look at a Zoning 
map shows that 3200 Lily Avenue is the only non-residential property in the area to be caught 
within a residential zone.  
 
Because the property’s use has not changed, and the property’s present conditions make it nearly 
impossible to use the land for residential purposes without Lowry taking on a significant expense, 
Lowry proposes to rezone the land to I-1. This rezoning would align with Transform’s goal to 
eliminate as many non-conforming uses as possible throughout the city.  
 



2. Additional Standards 
 
In addition to the necessary findings of fact outlined in § 5-508(b)(2), the Zoning Code requires 
that the City Council consider the following additional standards for a rezoning of city land. 
 

1. Existing uses of the property within the general area of the property in general. 
 

The east side of Lily Avenue is residential in nature, improved by single-family homes. In 
the industrially zoned portion of the general area, the properties adhere to traditional 
industrial uses: building supply warehouses; retail goods establishments; storage facilities; 
shopping centers; and headquarters for industrial businesses.  
 

2. The zoning classification of other property within the general area of the property in 
question. 

 
Lily Avenue is residentially zoned, but the rest of the area in this part of Cherry Hill is 
zoned I-1. 

 
3. The suitability of the property in question for the uses permitted under its existing 

classification. 
 
The existing zoning does not allow for the property’s longstanding and current use. A 
rezoning will allow for the property owner to continue the quiet enjoyment and use of his 
property as a mini-warehouse, as has been the case since the 1980s. The property owner 
does not intend to improve or otherwise modify the building, or change its use. 

 
4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including 

changes, if any, that have taken place since the property in question was placed in its present 
zoning classification.  

 
This portion of Cherry Hill was largely developed for industrial use by 2017 and as such 
has not seen many changes since the property in question was placed in its present zoning 
classification.  

 
3. Summary & Conclusion 
 
The applicant would like to rezone 3200 Lily Avenue so that a Use & Occupancy permit may be 
obtained to continue the longstanding use of the property as a mini-warehouse. The rezoning will 
align the property with its previous zoning prior to Transform Baltimore and is appropriate for the 
area. Aside from a few residential properties on Lily Avenue, the rest of this part of Cherry Hill is 
zoned I-1.  


